2010-IA-00190-SCTT

I. CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or the Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

1. The Honorable Thomas W. Allen
P.O. Box 756
Clarksdale, MS 38614-0756
2. Bernice Conner, Plaintiff/Appellee
3. Daniel M. Czamanske, Jr., Esq.
Harland Webster, Esq.
Chapman, Lewis & Swan
501 First Street
P. O. Box 428
Clarksdale, MS 38614

Counsel for Plaintiff/Appellee
4. Mid-South Retina, LLC, Defendant/Appellant
5. S. Kirk Milam, Esq.

V. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Whether the lower court erred in reversing its award of summary judgment to the Defendant when Plaintiff's expert nurse could not legally opine about medical causation; when Plaintiff's expert's Affidavit lacked of any opinion providing a plausible causal link between Mid-South's nurses actions and the burns on Plaintiff's Arm; and when the lower court mistakenly considered the Plaintiff's supplemental affidavit on reconsideration.

VI. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Statement of the Facts:

Conner, a resident of Coahoma County, was referred to the Mid-South Retina clinic in Memphis, TN by her eye doctor in Clarksdale, Dr. Victor Pang, for decreased visual acuity in her left eye. On February 5, 2003, Dr. Brad Priester first saw Conner in Mid-South's office in Memphis and diagnosed her with age-related macular degeneration. Dr. Priester prescribed photodynamic therapy¹ to help slow the progression of the degeneration of sight in her left eye. On February 12, 2003, Dr. Priester conducted Conner's first photodynamic therapy using a drug called Visudyne. The treatment occurred without incident.

Conner returned for a second round of Visudyne therapy on April 10, 2003. As in February, she was given a pamphlet which outlines the risks and benefits of the treatment including extravasation/infiltration.² Mid-South Retina's nurse, Evelyn Hampton, started an IV in Conner's antecubital (at the bend of the elbow) space and began the automatic syringe machine which applies a constant inflow of Visudyne for approximately five minutes. Halfway through the infusion, Nurse Hampton noticed that the drug was infiltrating into the anectubital space instead of the vein. Dr. Priester determined that enough of the Visudyne was infused and therefore went forward with the remainder of the procedure. Due to the infiltration and the fact

¹ Photodynamic therapy is a procedure utilizing chemicals that are reactive to light. In this case, a patient such as Conner is injected with a drug such as Visudyne which travels through the blood stream to the new forming blood vessels in the back of the retina which are feeding the scar tissue causing the decreased vision. A cold laser is then shot into the eye. The laser activates the chemicals in the drug.

² An extravasation/infiltration is the depositing or injection of a fluid or solution directly into the tissue instead of the vein.

that the Visudyne reacts to light, Dr. Priester instructed Conner to keep her arm out of the sun and to keep in elevated and apply ice-packs for twenty-four hours. Dr. Priester did not let Conner leave Mid-South's office in Memphis until he was satisfied that her arm was sufficiently covered.

Thirty minutes after leaving Mid-South's Memphis office, Conner called and informed Mid-South Retina that her arm was hurting. She was instructed to return to the office. Upon her arrival, Dr. Priester sent her up to a dermatologist who occupied the same building in Memphis. The dermatologist instructed Conner to immediately go to St. Francis Hospital ER in Memphis for further treatment as Conner's complaints of pain was out of proportion with his exam. Conner did not go the St. Francis ER as instructed, but instead returned to Clarksdale, MS. The following day, April 11, 2003, after making numerous calls, Dr. Priester spoke with Conner who informed him that she had not gone to the ER as instructed but was still in pain. She was instructed to go to the ER in Clarksdale who in turn referred her to a general surgeon, Dr. Purifoy who treated her with pain medication and oral antibiotic.

Dr. Priester continued to try to contact Conner to check on her status. After numerous unsuccessful phone calls, Dr. Priester traveled from Memphis to Clarksdale to check on her. He found her at home where he treated her arm and instructed her to see Dr. Purifoy. Conner saw Dr. Purifoy on April 29, 2003 and again on May 13, 2003 where he noted that the skin breakdown was less than 1 centimeter. Conner never returned for any further treatment by Dr. Purifoy.

B. Statement of the Proceedings.

On April 12, 2004, Conner, filed suit alleging medical negligence on the part of Dr.

Priester and Mid-South Retina in the care and treatment of Ms. Conner. (R. 3-5)³ Plaintiff's Complaint alleges that Dr. Priester and his employees were negligent in the administration of the intravenous Visudyne treatment to Conner. (R. 4) Further, Plaintiff claims that as a result of defendants' negligence, Conner suffered painful, permanent and disfiguring injuries. Discovery was conducted and depositions were taken. (R. 5) Dr. Priester and Mid-South moved for summary judgment on the basis that the Plaintiff did not have an expert to testify to the standard of care which they were required to adhere, that they breached the standard of care and that such breach caused or contributed to Conner's injuries. (R. 97-119, R.E. 2) On November 19, 2008, Conner filed her Designation of Expert, designating LaDonna Northington, R.N. as her sole expert and attaching Nurse Northington's CV and Affidavit as a statement of her qualifications and opinions. (R. 126-140) On the same day, Conner filed her Response to Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment which relied upon the Affidavit of Nurse Northington. (R. 141-170) Defendants' filed a Rebuttal and a hearing was held on January 13, 2009. (R. 171-177, R.E. 3, R. 192) At the hearing, Conner conceded the Motion as to Dr. Priester and took the motion as to Mid-South Retina under advisement. (R. 194-195). The lower court entered an Order granting Mid-South's motion for summary judgment on August 10, 2009. (R. 200-207, R.E. 4). Conner moved for reconsideration on August 20, 2009 adding a supplemental Affidavit of LaDonna Northington and deposition testimony that was not before the lower court when it considered the Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. 208-220) Mid-South moved to strike the supplemental affidavit of Northington as it amounted to feeble attempt to correct the deficiencies in the

³ Throughout the Brief, R. will be used for the Record, R.E. for Record Excerpt and T for Trial Transcript.

VII. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Nurses are not competent to testify to the issue of medical causation. The lower court should not have found Nurse Northington competent to testify after reconsidering its earlier decision that she was incompetent to testify as to the issue of causation. On this ground alone, The lower court's opinion on reconsideration should be overturned and a judgment rendered in Mid-South's favor.

Regardless of whether Nurse Northington was qualified to testify to medical causation, she failed to provide a causal link between her opined breach of the standard of care and Plaintiff's injuries. Summary judgment is warranted in this case when viewing the evidence, the affidavit of Nurse Northington, in a light most favorable to the Plaintiff. Nurse Northington is not critical of Mid-South for allowing an infiltration to occur, only that Mid-South's nurse failed to document certain aspects of the IV treatment. Nurse Northington cannot be critical of the infiltration as it is a common risk when a person inserts a needle under the skin to inject a vein that cannot be seen by the naked eye. Therefore, the only breaches of the standard of care to which Nurse Northington provided are alleged failures to document.

Nurse Northington also testified that the failure to document these various things caused scarring to Mrs. Conner's arm. This opinion is disingenuous. Taking this argument to its logical conclusion would mean that had the nurse who administered the Visudyne drug documented the chart better, there would not have been an infiltration and in turn no injury to Conner's arm. This is simply not the case. Nurse Northington does not provide a plausible causal connection between the only standard of care violation, poor documentation, and the alleged injury, a scarred arm.

Once the lower court ruled against Conner, she had Nurse Northington execute another affidavit correcting the deficiencies of the original affidavit filed months prior. There was no newly discovered evidence that prompted a change in Nurse Northington's opinions, much less newly discovered evidence that could not have been discovered using due diligence. Further, Conner did not provide the Court with any evidence to show that Nurse Northington's opinions could not have been rendered prior to the entry of judgment against her.

Both parties to this action had time to prepare and present their best arguments for and against summary judgment. The lower court considered all of the evidence and argument properly before it. The lower court initially made the correct determination that summary judgment was warranted for numerous reasons including that Nurse Northington did not provide a plausible opinion on the necessary element of causation. The lower court erred in considering a supplemental affidavit based on information available prior to the initial hearing that was produced for the sole purpose of correcting the deficiencies that warranted summary judgment. The lower court further erred by reversing its initial decision on the basis that Plaintiff made a prima facie case by providing an opinion on causation. The lower court's denial of summary judgment upon reconsideration should be reversed and a judgment in favor of the remaining Defendant rendered.

VIII. ARGUMENT

A. Nurse Northington Is Not Qualified to Render an Opinion on Medical Causation.

The lower court correctly found that Nurse Northington was not qualified to testify either live or by affidavit. However, the lower court reversed itself upon reconsideration and found that she was qualified to testify on the issue of causation. The law is clear in Mississippi. “We now explicitly hold that nurses cannot testify to medical causation.” *Vaughn v. Mississippi Baptist Medical Center*, 20, So. 3d 645, 652 (Miss. 2009). Since medical diagnosis is outside a nurse's scope of practice, logically it would follow that a nurse should not be permitted to testify as to his/her diagnostic impressions or as to the cause of a particular infectious disease or illness. This is in keeping with the majority rule that nursing experts cannot opine as to medical causation and are unable to establish the necessary element of proximate cause. *Id.*

Since Nurse Northington cannot testify about the element of causation, any opinion she may give on the subject of causation is incompetent. Without an expert opinion on causation, plaintiff cannot prove a critical element required to make a prima facie case of medical negligence. The lower court should not have reversed its earlier decision that she was incompetent to testify as to the issue of causation. On this ground alone, The lower court's opinion on reconsideration should be overturned and a judgment rendered in Mid-South's favor.

B. Summary Judgment Was Warranted for Failure to Provide a Causal Link Between the Alleged Standard of Care Violations and the Injury to Conner.

Even if the Court disregarded Northington's qualifications, summary judgment was still warranted. As a general matter of Mississippi law, summary judgments should only be issued

where the moving party successfully demonstrates to the Court that no genuine issue of material fact exists from the record and he is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Palmer v. Biloxi Regional Medical Center*, 564 So.2d 1346, 1355 (Miss.1990); *American Legion Ladnier Post No. 42, Inc. v. City of Ocean Springs*, 562 So.2d 103, 106 (Miss.1990); *Brown v. Credit Center, Inc.*, 444 So.2d 358, 362 (Miss.1983). All evidentiary matters before the Court must be considered in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *McFadden v. State*, 580 So.2d 1210, 1214 (Miss.1991); *Webster v. Mississippi Publishers Corp.*, 571 So.2d 946, 949 (Miss.1990); *Brown*, 444 So.2d at 362. The non-moving party may not defeat the motion merely by making general allegations or unsupported denials of material fact, however. *Palmer*, 564 So.2d at 1356; *Smith v. Sanders*, 485 So.2d 1051, 1054 (Miss.1986); *Hill v. Consumer National Bank*, 482 So.2d 1124, 1128 (Miss.1986). The **“party opposing the motion must by affidavit or otherwise set forth specific facts showing that there are indeed issues for trial.”** *Palmer*, 564 So.2d at 1356; *Fruchter v. Lynch Oil Co.*, 522 So.2d 195, 199 (Miss.1988); *Smith v. First Federal Savings & Loan Association of Grenada*, 460 So.2d 786, 792 (Miss.1984) *emphasis added*. “ A court simply may not rely upon unsupported, conclusory allegations to defeat a motion for summary judgment where there are no issues of material fact. *Jacox v. Circus Circus of Mississippi, Inc.*, 908 So. 2d 181, 184 (Miss. 2005) (citing *Richardson v. Oldham*, 12 F.3d 1373, 1378-79 (5th Cir.1994) (affidavits in opposition to summary judgment that contain conclusions or conjecture not based on personal knowledge and insufficient factual specificity are not competent summary judgment evidence); *Forsyth v. Barr*, 19 F.3d 1527, 1533 (5th Cir.1994) (unsubstantiated assertions are not competent summary judgment evidence); *Krim v. BancTexas Group, Inc.*, 989 F.2d 1435, 1449 (5th Cir.1993) (if the nonmoving party rests merely

upon conclusory allegations, improbable inferences and unsupported speculation, summary judgment may be appropriate)).

Summary judgment is warranted in this case when viewing the evidence, the affidavit of Nurse Northington, in a light most favorable to the Plaintiff. Nurse Northington's opinions do not provide a complete prima facie case of medical negligence against Mid-South sufficient to defeat the Motion for Summary Judgment. Nurse Northington's Affidavit states:

Based on my education and experience, a review of the above items, it is my opinion that Mid South Retina Associates were negligent in the care and follow [up] treatment provided to Bernice Conners on April 10, 2003, and that such negligence was a violation of the applicable standard of care with regard to IV treatment and follow up. Specifically, it was below the applicable standard of care for Mid South Retina Associates to not document in the medical records the manner and method in which the IV was place[d] and the presence of proof of proper placement, the length of time between the onset of infusion and infiltration, the appearance of the site post infiltration, evaluation of the infiltration site, or the actions taken post infiltration to treat the area. Further there is no documentation or testimony to indicate that the area was bandaged to prevent any incidental exposure to sunlight. The testimony indicates that the healthcare providers were aware of the caustic nature of the Visudyne and its reactive nature with regard to sunlight. It is further my opinion, to a reasonable degree of medical probability, that the above mentioned negligent acts of nursing care caused or contributed to cause the injury and scarring to Bernice Conner's antecubital fossa.

(R. 156, R.E. 7). Nurse Northington's opinion is that Mid-South breached of the standard of care with regard to IV treatment and follow up. She goes on to opine that Mid-South specifically breached the standard of care with regard to IV treatment by failing to document: (1) the manner and method in which the IV was placed; (2) the presence of proof of the proper placement; (3) length of time between the onset of infusion and infiltration; (4) the appearance of the site post infiltration, evaluation of the infiltration

site; (5) the actions taken post infiltration to treat the area; and (6) that the area was bandaged to prevent any incidental exposure to sunlight. *Id.* Nurse Northington is not critical of Mid-South for allowing an infiltration to occur, only that Mid-South's nurse failed to document certain aspects of the IV treatment. Nurse Northington cannot be critical of the infiltration as it is a common risk when a person inserts a needle under the skin to inject a vein that cannot be seen by the naked eye. Therefore, the only breaches of the standard of care to which Nurse Northington provided are alleged failures to document.

Nurse Northington also testified that the failure to document these various things caused scarring to Mrs. Conner's arm. Specifically, she stated "it is further my opinion, to a reasonable degree of medical probability, that the above mentioned negligent acts of nursing care caused or contributed to cause the injury and scarring to Bernice Conner's antecubital fossa." (R. 156, R.E. 7) This opinion is disingenuous. Taking this argument to its logical conclusion would mean that had the nurse who administered the Visudyne drug documented the chart better, there would not have been an infiltration and in turn no injury to Conner's arm. This is simply not the case. Nurse Northington does not provide a plausible causal connection between the only standard of care violation, poor documentation, and the alleged injury, a scarred arm.

The lower court correctly found that summary judgment was warranted and then reversed itself by ignoring the substance of Northington's affidavit and focusing on whether she used the correct terms of art in forming her affidavit.

Two years ago, the Mississippi Court of Appeals dealt with a similar appeal over a

lower court's award of summary judgment in a medical malpractice case in *Dotson v. Jackson*, 8 So. 3d 230 (Miss. App. 2008). Mrs. Dotson filed suit against Dr. Jackson for injuries to her bladder after a hysterectomy. *Id.* The Court of Appeals found that Dotson's expert, Dr. Reiss' affidavit did not establish a prima facie case of medical negligence due to a lack of a causal connection between the asserted breach of the standard of care and Dotson's injuries. The Court of Appeals stated:

But more importantly, Dr. Reiss does not make the causal connection of Dr. Jackson's failure to perform a proper abdominal exam with Dotson's injury-the cutting of her bladder. Dr. Reiss does not state that, had Dr. Jackson performed the proper abdominal exam, Dr. Jackson would not have cut the bladder. Even if Dr. Jackson were to have performed this "proper" abdominal exam, it is clear from Dr. Reiss's affidavit that Dr. Jackson would still be required to anticipate cutting the bladder.

Dotson v. Jackson, 8 So. 3d 230, 237 (Miss. App. 2008). Nurse Northington's affidavit also fails to make a causal connection between Mid-South's failure to document these six various treatments and the injury to Conner's arm. Nurse Northington did not state that had Mid-South properly documented Conner's chart, the infiltration would not have occurred and Conner's arm would not have been injured or scarred. She provides no link between the failure to document and Conner's scarred arm. Nurse Northington's affidavit does not establish a prima facie case of medical negligence against Mid-South when viewed in a light most favorable to the plaintiff sufficient to establish material issues of fact. Therefore, summary judgment was appropriate and should not have been denied upon reconsideration.

The lower made such a finding initially:

Nurse Northington's testimony that the nurses' failure to document

certain things was the cause of Mrs. Conner's injuries. Nurse Northington's opinion, if taken to its logical conclusion would mean that had the nurse who administered the Visudyne drug documented the chart better, there would not have been an infiltration and in turn no injury to the Plaintiff.

The Court finds that Nurse Northington does not provide a plausible causal connection between the only standard of care violation, poor documentation and the alleged injury – a scarred arm. Because of the lack of a competent opinion that the breach of the standard of care by the nurse at Mid-South Retina caused scarring to Mrs. Conner's arm, Summary Judgment is warranted for Mid-South Retina.

(R. 206, R.E. 4).

However, the lower court reversed its decision upon reconsideration and denied summary judgment to Mid-South. The lower court did not revisit its findings and determine that Nurse Northington's affidavit did indeed provide a causal connection between the breach of the standard of care and Conner's injury. No, instead, the lower court focused on form over substance and found that the affidavit contains a reference to standard of care or duty, breach of that duty and that the resulting injury caused by that breach. (R. 231-234, R.E. 6) Specifically, the lower court found on reconsideration:

...the specific term "duty" expressed in Nurse Northington's statement "...it is my opinion that Mid South Retina Associates were **negligent in the care and follow (up) treatment** provided...". The term "breach" is seen in the statement "**such negligence was a violation of the applicable standard of care**" and in the statement "**...it was below the applicable standard of care...**" The affidavit stated that "**...the providers were aware of the caustic nature of the Visudyne and its reactive nature with regard to sunlight...**"; this statement goes to show there was a "duty" to use the drug properly. Lastly Nurse Northington states the "causal connection" with her statement that "**the above mentioned negligent acts of nursing care caused or contributed to cause injury and scarring to Bernice Conner's antecubital fossa.**" (Emphasis added by Court).

(R. 233, R.E. 6). The Court goes on to cite *Partin v. North Mississippi Medical Center, Inc.*, 929 So. 924, 931-33 (Miss. App. 2005) to support its new finding that failure to use terms of art does not render an expert's affidavit deficient and that the non-moving party does not have to prove all elements of its case but only has to demonstrate that there are genuine issues of material fact. *Id.* The lower court further stated that it did not find that the statements in Nurse Northington's affidavit are, in fact, correct, rather "simply note that the affidavit does speak to all of the elements required for establishing genuine issues of material fact for a jury to decide the case." *Id.*

In a negligence action, the plaintiff bears the burden of producing evidence sufficient to establish the existence of the conventional tort elements of duty, breach of duty, proximate causation, and injury. *Palmer v. Biloxi Regional Medical Center, Inc.*, 564 So. 2d at 1356 (Miss. 1990). Therefore, in a summary judgment proceeding, the plaintiff must rebut the defendant's claim (*i.e.*, that no genuine issue of material fact exists) by producing supportive evidence of *significant* and *probative* value; this evidence must show that the defendant breached the established standard of care and that such breach was the proximate cause of her injury. *Id.* Terms of art are not required in an affidavit to establish each element of a case of medical negligence sufficient to defeat summary judgment. However, The "**party opposing the motion must by affidavit or otherwise set forth specific facts showing that there are indeed issues for trial.**"

Palmer, 564 So.2d at 1356 *emphasis added*.

Further, a court simply may not rely upon unsupported, conclusory allegations to defeat a motion for summary judgment where there are no issues of material fact. *Jacox v.*

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