NO. 2010-IA-00190-SCT

BERNICE CONNER

PLAINTIFF/APPELLEE

VS.

CAUSE NO.: 14-CI-07-0145

MID-SOUTH RETINA, LLC

DEFENDANT/APPELLANT

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of this Court may evaluate potential disqualifications or refusal.

- 1. The Honorable Thomas W. Allen
- 2. S. Kirk Milam, Esq.
- S. Duke Goza, Esq. 3.
- J. Harland Webster, Esq. 4.
- 5. Daniel M. Czamanske, Jr.
- Ms. Bernice Conner 6.
- 7. Dr. Brad Priester
- Mid-South Retina, LLC 8.

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In this case there are material facts or issues that need to be determined by a jury and summary judgment is not appropriate. The trial court was correct in granting Appellee's Motion to Reconsider and ultimately denying the Appellant's Motion for Summary Judgment. Further, no Rule prohibits a judge from correcting an error while he/she has jurisdiction of the case.

Certain facts are not in dispute in this case. Appellee Conner was a patient at the Mid-South Retina Clinic when during an IV administration of a caustic drug called Visudyne, an infiltration occurred and injured her to the point of disfigurement. This injury was treated by numerous physicians, including a physician with the Appellant Mid-South Retina Clinic himself, Dr. Priester, who personally came from Memphis, Tennessee to Clarksdale, Mississippi to bandage the elbow of the Appellee, which had been injured during the IV treatment. There is no dispute but that the infiltration caused the injury to the inside of her elbow.

What is in dispute is whether the administration of the Visudyne drug was done properly and whether the patient was monitored properly during the drug administration. Further there is a question as to whether, once the infiltration occurred, the patient was properly treated.

The Appellee identified an expert, Nurse Northington, and by affidavit she testified that she was familiar with the appropriate standard of nursing care with regard to IV placement and complications such as infiltrations. Record on Appeal, 156. Nurse Northington reviewed the medical records of Mid-South Retina Associates, as well as the depositions of Dr. Priester, Appellee Conner and Nurse Hampton, who was in charge of administering the IV at the time of the incident in question. Based upon her education, experience and review of these items, expert Northington

testified that it was her opinion that Mid-South Retina Associates were negligent in the care and follow-up treatment provided to Apellee Conner on April 10, 2003. Record on Appeal, 156. Nurse Northington testified that such negligence was a violation of the applicable standard of care with regard to IV treatment and followup. Nurse Northington goes on to note that the records should have included and did not include, information documenting the manner and method of the IV placement, proof of proper placement, together with length of time between onset of infiltration and the infusion. There is nothing in the record to document the appearance of the site of the infiltration or actions taken post infiltration. Further, there is no documentation in the records to indicate that the area of the infiltration was bandaged to prevent any incidental exposure to sunlight.

ARGUMENT

A. Are there issues of fact which need to be determined by a jury, such that summary judgment is not proper?

When the facts are viewed in a light most favorable to the Appellee, and as demonstrated by the affidavit of Nurse Northington, the Appellant was negligent in the administration of the IV to the patient. They were negligent in the monitoring of the IV administration to the patient, and they were negligent in the follow-up care and treatment (more accurately lack thereof) with regard to the patient. This conduct fell below the applicable standard of care and caused or contributed to cause the injury and scarring to patient Bernice Conner. Therefore, there are material issues of fact in this matter that need to be determined by a jury.

B. Is Nurse Northington qualified to express such an opinion?

As noted by the trial court, Nurse Northington has an impressive curriculum vitae. In addition to her resume, she testified that she is familiar with the appropriate standard of care with regard to IV placement and complications such as infiltration. Nobody has questioned this testimony or her qualifications. She teaches nurses how to place IVs and she teaches nurses how to deal with such complications. She is an associate professor at the University of Mississippi School of Nursing. She has been providing nursing care to patients at the University of Mississippi Medical Center in Jackson, Mississippi since 1979. There can be no question but that she has the proper qualifications and experience to address this very issue. Further, in addition to her training, experience and skills, she reviewed the medical records of the Appellant and the depositions of the parties and Nurse Hampton. She is qualified to express, therefore, an opinion as to whether or not the IV placement,

monitoring and followup care was at or below the applicable standard of care.

C. Can Nurse Northington offer an opinion as to causation?

1. Causation in General

The Appellant argues that a nurse may never testify as to causation. This is a new and original argument that was never brought before the trial court, probably because the case which is cited to support this position is a very recent case, <u>Vaughn v. Mississippi Baptist Medical Center</u>, 20 So.3d 645 (Miss. 2009). The argument before the trial court with regard to causation had to do with the affidavit of Nurse Northington and the errant suggestion that the *only* negligent acts alleged were a failure to document, and that a failure to document cannot in fact be the cause of an injury. That will be discussed further below.

With regard to causation in general, this argument was never made to the trial court, specifically that nurses can not offer an opinion with regard to causation. The significance of not making this argument to the trial court is that, had it been made, Appellee would have been afforded the opportunity to develop the record on what was essential an undisputed issue. Everyone admitted that Appellant had an infiltration and it required extensive treatment, some of which was provided by the Appellee's own physician. The bottom line is, the trial court cannot err on an issue that was never presented to it. This new argument should therefore be deemed to have been waived and not properly preserved for appeal as it was never previously raised or addressed by the parties, and more importantly the trial court.

With regard to the holding in <u>Vaughn</u>, the Supreme Court stated, "Since medical diagnosis is outside a nurses's scope of practice, logically it would follow that a nurse should not be permitted to testify as to his or her diagnostic impressions or as to the cause of a particular infectious disease

or illness." The expert nurse in <u>Vaughn</u> was attempting to testify as to the origin of a patient's staff infection, in a patient who had been to more than one facility and in which there was a dispute among the physicians as to when the staff infection occurred. Such a diagnosis is clearly outside the scope of a nurses expertise, especially considering the physicians couldn't agree as to the timing of the infection. The case sub judice is far different from <u>Vaughn</u>, In the case sub judice a nurse with experience in administering IVs and attending the complications thereof, is testifying not as to diagnosis, but as to the administration and undisputed complication of Appellee's IV administration. These issues are withing a nurse's expertise and therefore different from the issue presented in <u>Vaughn</u>.

2. Lack of Documentation

Much has been made about the original affidavit of Expert Northington, Record on Appeal, 156. Because Nurse Northington testified that it was below the applicable standard of care not to document the manner of placement, the method of placement, and whether there was proof of proper placement of the IV, it had been argued both at the trial court level and now at the appellate level that the lack of documentation can not be a cause of someone's injury. It has never been the contention at anytime by Appellee that the lack of documentation itself caused any injury. It is disingenuous to suggest that is the Appellee's position. Rather, as stated in the affidavit and in every response to this issue, it is the Appellee's contention based on all the evidence, the depositions, the records, and the lack of the information contained in the records, the Appellant was negligent in administering the IV, monitoring the IV, and then in the followup care with regard to the IV complication.

If, for example, proof of proper placement should be noted in the records as it often is, and it is not noted in the particular record on the particular instance where an infiltration occurs, there

are two possibilities.: Either the person administering the drug did not confirm proper placement of the IV needle or they did confirm proper placement but failed to document it. When you combine the evidence together with the results and complications that occurred, one inference becomes more reasonable than the others. That is the significance in failing to document something that should be documented. If it is not documented and a complication arises which is consistent with the failure to do that thing which should be documented, then it is a fair inference that it was not documented because it was not done. In this case everyone agrees that it was critically important to prevent the infiltration site from being exposed to light, especially sunlight. However, there is no documentation in the records to suggest that the area was bandaged to prevent exposure. This is exactly what is stated in the affidavit of LaDonna Northington, "further there is no documentation or testimony to indicate that the area was bandaged to prevent any incidental exposure to sunlight." Record on Appeal, 156.

The significance of failing to document that which, under the appropriate standard of care, should be documented is not that it causes the injury, but that it provides a reasonable basis for an expert to opine that such care and treatment was in fact not performed. It is the failure to perform that which should be documented, that is negligent and causative, not the lack of documentation itself.

D. Was it err for the trial court to reconsider its ruling on the motion for summary judgment?

No standard of care was ever addressed by the Appellant in its brief. Because the ultimate issue sought to be reviewed is the trial court's denial of Appellant's Motion for Summary Judgment, the proper standard of review would be a de novo review of trial court's decision, viewing the

underlying evidence is a light most favorable to Appellee. See <u>Brasel v. Hair Co.</u>, 976 So.2d 390, 392 (Miss. App. 2008). However, to the extent Appellant is arguing that procedurally, the trial court cannot reconsider its decision to grant a summary judgment, the standard of review for such a decision would be abuse of discretion. See <u>Medical Assur. Co. of Mississippi v. Meyers</u>, 956 So.2d 213, 215 (Miss. 2007).

As noted previously, there are material issues that need to be tried in front of a jury and the trial court agrees. The question then becomes whether the trial court can send this case to a jury after it admittedly mistakenly grants a summary judgment on a motion that is filed within ten days of the granting of that summary judgment. Certainly there is no suggestion that the motion to reconsider was untimely. Therefore, the only question is whether there is some procedural bar that would prevent a case in which there are material issues in dispute from being tried. Can a trial court, if it believes it has made a mistake like it did in this case, correct itself? Should the trial court not be permitted, if it perceives an error, to ultimately do what it considers to be the right thing? There is no rule that prevents the trial court from correcting mistakes, and no rule should ever prevent a trial court from doing what it believes to be correct under the law. In Anderson v. R & D Foods, Inc., 913 So.2d 394, 399 (Miss. App. 2005) the Appellate Court found such arguments to be "untenable" with regard to a trial court's granting of a motion to reconsider. The Appellate Court noted that the motion to reconsider was an application to the court for an order pursuant to Rule 7(b)(1). Id.

There are a number of case in which the trial court reconsiders its ruling on a summary judgment motion and the Appellate Court reviews the underlying decision. In <u>J.M. ex. rel. V.M. v. Bailey</u>, 42 So.3d 618 (Miss. App. 2010) the trial judge granted a motion to reconsider with regard to a summary judgment motion and the Appellate Court reviewed the summary judgment motion

for error. Also in <u>Brasel v. Hair Co.</u>, 976 So.2d 390 (Miss. App. 2008) the trial court granted a motion to reconsider with regard to a summary judgment motion and the Appellate Court reviewed the decision on the motion for summary judgment for error. A motion to reconsider is nothing new or unique, it is the inherent power of the trial court to handle cases properly before them in manner that best serves justice. In the case sub judice, the trial court timely reconsidered its holding and held that there were material issues of fact for a jury to decide in this case. That decision should not be disturbed and drug out by one of the many appeals sought by this Appellant. Any error by the trial court can be addressed on a proper and timely appeal at the conclusion of this matter.

The Appellant argues the trial court may not reconsider a ruling or correct itself, unless and only under the circumstances in which there was newly discovered evidence which was not previously available. Appellant's brief at page 18. As authority, Appellant cites to Rule 59, but even this rule confirms the trial court's authority to do the right thing. It provides specifically that, "the court may open the judgment if one has been entered, take additional testimony, amend findings of fact and conclusions of law or make new findings and conclusions, and direct the entry of a new judgment." This is not a rule of restriction, but of rule of enlargement or discretion.

CONCLUSION

There are questions of fact that need to be resolved by the jury, this is recognized by the trial court and this matter should be remanded for trial.